1965

Eastern Utah Development Company v. General Insurance Company of America, A Corporation, and Fred Reynolds : Appellant's Brief

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

Plaintiff brought this action against the defendants alleging that defendant Fred Reynolds had incurred a debt with the plaintiff for rental of plaintiff's equipment and that defendant General Insurance Company of America, as bonding company on the project under construction, was obligated to pay the plaintiff by

virtue of its labor and material bonds. Defendant Reynolds claims that plaintiff was his partner or a joint-venturer in the project, and therefore is only entitled to an accounting. Defendant General Insurance Company of America, as bonding company on said project, claims that plaintiff, as a joint-venturer or partner of Reynolds, is obligated to indemnify this defendant for any losses sustained on the project by virtue of its bonds and that plaintiff cannot make claim under its own bond.

The bonds were issued to Reynolds as principal. The insurance company was not told that plaintiff was Reynolds' partner when the bonds were written. The plaintiff also claims damages from Reynolds for his alleged negligence in the performance of the contract.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The plaintiff brought its action against the defendants for money claimed to be due and owing. Plaintiff claimed a rental agreement with Reynolds for the use of its equipment. Reynolds denies the agreement. Plaintiff also claims that defendant General Insurance Company of America, as bonding company on said project, is obligated to the plaintiff by virtue of its bonds. Both defendants claim that plaintiff is a partner of Reynolds and, as such, is only entitled to an accounting from Reynolds. In no event can plaintiff make claim under its own bond.

The plaintiff, although admitting that it was a partner or joint-venturer with Reynolds at the commencement of the project, claimed that the partnership was terminated and that thereafter the plaintiff rented its equipment to Reynolds in order to complete the partnership project and has not been paid for said equipment. (R24-27, 36-44)

The case was tried before the Honorable Merrill C. Faux, District Judge, and upon completion of the plaintiff's evidence, and at the conclusion of all the evidence, motions to dismiss were made by counsel for the defendants. They were subsequently denied by the Court. (R333-334, 344-345, 418-419) The case was submitted to the jury at the close of the evidence. The issues were submitted to the jury in the form of special interrogatories. (R54-57) Based upon the answers made to these interrogatories, the Court entered judgment in favor of the plaintiff and against both defendants. (R95) Motions for judgment notwithstanding the verdict or in the alternative for a new trial were filed by both defendants and subsequently denied by the Court. (R93-95) Defendants thereafter filed this appeal. (R106)

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Both defendants seek reversal of judgment entered in the lower court and for an order requiring an ac-

counting between the plaintiff and defendant Reynolds.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In order to promote clarity, the respondent will be referred to as plaintiff, appellant Fred Reynolds will be referred to as Reynolds, and appellant General Insurance Company of America will be referred to as the Insurance Company.

The plaintiff, upon receiving an invitation to bid the proposed construction of the irrigation canal by the Koosharem Irrigation Company, contacted its local insurance agent in an effort to obtain a bid bond. Plaintiff was told that the bonding company previously used by the plaintiff was no longer doing business in the state; that a bond could not be obtained for the plaintiff. (R135) It then solicited defendant Reynolds to become a join-venturer to bid the job, as Reynolds was able to obtain a bond. (R174-176) The plaintiff was to be a silent partner until the job was commenced. (R178-180) It was agreed that Reynolds and plaintiff would perform the contract as joint-venturers or partners in the event Reynolds was successful in his bid. (R143-144, 182-183)

Reynolds and a vice president of the plaintiff company, Max Fausett, visited the area where the canal was to be constructed and together estimated the cost of the project, whereupon Reynolds submitted a bid in his

name, as previously agreed upon between these parties. (R117-118, 140-141, 144) The bid was accepted. (R181)

Reynolds obtained bonds from the insurance company naming Reynolds as the principal under the bonds. The bonds were to guarantee the payment of labor and materials in the job, as well as the faithful performance of the contract.

An agent for the insurance company had previously told the plaintiff that he would not accept the plaintiff company as a client for the issuing of bonds because of the poor financial rating of the plaintiff. (R176, 342-343)

Thereafter, plaintiff and Reynolds obtained the necessary equipment to commence the project. Both the plaintiff and Reynolds owned various items of equipment necessary for the project and agreed that they would charge to this project a specified hourly rate for the use of their equipment. Any profits derived thereafter would be divided equally. (R143-144, Exhibits 4P and 5P) Both plaintiff and Reynolds moved their equipment and men on to the project and commenced work. Plaintiff furnished several employees from its company to assist Reynolds in the performance of the contract. (R141, 143-145, 147)

During the early stages of the project, plaintiff's vice president, Fausett, made numerous trips to the project in an effort to assist Reynolds in any difficulties

that he was encountering. (R154-155) Plaintiff also kept in touch with the progress of the project through its employees and by conversations had with Reynolds by telephone. (R157, 363)

After considerable work had been done on the project, it was discovered by plaintiff and Reynolds that a large portion of the ground wherein the canal was to be cut, was considerably more rocky than had been anticipated, and the expense of clearing the rocks from the path of the cutting machine was taking more time and creating more expense than was anticipated. This work was necessary, however, to maintain a straight cut and keep the floor of the canal level. (R158, 160) It was necessary to haul fill dirt from another area to fill the canal that was being cut. Various other problems were encountered as the work progressed, and it soon created conflict between Reynolds and the plaintiff as to the method of doing the work. The job was moving much more slowly than had been anticipated. Fausett informed Reynolds that he thought it advisable for them to prepare in writing an agreement setting forth the rental to be charged on the items of equipment being furnished by each of the partners and that the same be signed by plaintiff and Reynolds. Accordingly, their agreements were reduced to writing. (Exhibits 4P and 5P) Disputes between Reynolds and the plaintiff continued to cause problems. (R154, 158)

Plaintiff's vice president went to the project and informed Reynolds that his company was quitting the project and that Reynolds could keep any profit that

might be derived. In any event, the plaintiff was not going to have anything more to do with the performance of the contract. (R162, 195-196) Reynolds informed him that the plaintiff should not withdraw its support while the contract was being performed and that it was absolutely impossible for him to complete the project without some of the equipment and men that had been furnished by the plaintiff. (R162) Plaintiff then agreed to leave some of its equipment and men on the project as was necessary for its completion, but claimed that Reynolds was to pay plaintiff on a rental basis for the use of the employees and equipment. Thereafter plaintiff walked off the project leaving its completion in the hands of Reynolds. Reynolds objected to this action of the plaintiff, but remained on the project in an effort to complete the same. (R162, 364-366)

Plaintiff continued to show on its books the equipment on the project as well as the employees it was furnishing as part of the Koosharem Irrigation Project, joint venture, and did not bill the expenses directly to Reynolds. (R197, 210, Exhibits 7P-11P)

It should be noted that Reynolds has not paid himself any rental for his equipment nor has he received any wages or other compensation. (R367) A considerable sum of money has been paid to the plaintiff by Reynolds for its equipment in accordance with the terms of their written agreement. (Exhibit 5P, R367)

There remains a sum approximating \$39,000 due from the irrigation company on the project. (R322)

Certain problems with the construction of the canal must be corrected before the final payment can be received. After having demanded full rental payment from Reynolds, this action was brought. Plaintiff claims to be a supplier of materials on the job and therefore makes claim under the bonds.

The insurance company did not discover that plaintiff and Reynolds were partners until after the bonds were executed and issued. (R339, 342-343) At no time did the plaintiff notify the bonding company that it was terminating or attempting to terminate its partnership with Reynolds nor was the bonding company told that plaintiff was leaving the project. (R198, 203-204)

POINTS URGED FOR REVERSAL

POINT I

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT DEFENDANT INSURANCE COMPANY'S MOTION FOR DISMISSAL, AS A MATTER OF LAW.

POINT II

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO RULE, AS A MATTER OF LAW, THAT PLAINTIFF REMAINED A PARTNER WITH DEFENDANT FRED REYNOLDS FOR THE PURPOSE OF WINDING UP PARTNERSHIP BUSINESS.

POINT III

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO RULE, AS A MATTER OF LAW, THAT PLAINTIFF WAS LIABLE TO THE INSURANCE COMPANY BY INDEMNITY UNTIL THE COMPLETION OF PARTNERSHIP BUSINESS.

POINT IV

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO SUBMIT TO THE JURY ANY OF DEFENDANTS' REQUESTED INSTRUCTIONS, ON THEIR THEORY OF THE CASE.

POINT V

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO SUBMIT TO THE JURY THE ISSUE OF DAMAGES.

POINT VI

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO FIND THE JURY'S ANSWERS TO INTERROGATORIES TWO AND THREE OF THE SPECIAL VERDICT TO BE INCONSISTENT.

POINT VII

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO

RULE, AS A MATTER OF LAW, THAT PLAINTIFF IS ONLY ENTITLED TO AN ACCOUNTING FROM DEFENDANT FRED REYNOLDS IN WINDING UP PARTNERSHIP BUSINESS.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT DEFENDANT INSURANCE COMPANY'S MOTION FOR DISMISSAL, AS A MATTER OF LAW.

The evidence adduced by the plaintiff shows as a matter of law that the plaintiff was not entitled to recover against the insurance company on its bonds. The evidence is uncontradicted that the vice-president of the plaintiff corporation, Max Fausett, knew that Reynolds was obtaining a bond on behalf of the joint venture. (R174-176, 178-180). The plaintiff also well knew that because of its financial position a bond would not be issued to the plaintiff. (R176, 342-343).

Plaintiff requested that Reynolds obtain the bonds in his name thereby concealing from the insurance company that the plaintiff was a partner in the performance of the contract. (R174-176). At no time has the plaintiff denied being a partner with Reynolds in the performance of the contract. (R24-27, 46-50,

143-144, 182-183). Plaintiff also admits that after the bonds were issued, the project was commenced and the work was being performed jointly by the plaintiff and Reynolds, as partners, up to the time the plaintiff attempted to withdraw from the partnership. (R137-138, 141-148, 152-155, 158, 162). Plaintiff also admits that at no time was the insurance company notified that it was attempting to withdraw from the partnership. (R198, 203-204).

The obligation of partners to fulfill partnership agreements and wind up partnership business remains after a termination of the partnership. (Title 48-1-27, Utah Code Annotated, 1953; *Ferrin v. Ferrin*, 7 Ut2d 5, 315 P2d 978). The partners may not, by their own actions, relieve themselves from partnership liability to a third person without that person's consent. (40 Am Jur, Partnerships, Section 273; Title 48-1-32, U.C.A. 1953).

The facts in the instant case show without dispute that plaintiff and Reynolds entered into a joint venture or partnership agreement for the performance of the contract to build the irrigation canal. Their respective rights and duties as joint venturers or partners are governed according to the law of partnerships. (*Lane v. Peterson*, 68 Utah 858, 251 P. 274; *Bates v. Simpson*, 121 Utah 165, 239 P2d 749; *Cook v. Peter Kiewit Sons Company*, 15 Ut2d 20, 386 P2d 616.)

A silent partner is bound by the authorized acts of his partner on partnership business in accordance

with the principles of agency. (30 Am Jur, Joint Ventures, Section 55, pages 980--982; 40 Am Jur Partnerships, Section 188, page 259; Title 48-1- Utah Code Annotated, 1953).

The plaintiff is therefore bound to indemnify the insurance company for any loss it may sustain as the result of its issuing bonds on the partnership project (40 Am Jur, Partnerships, Section 136, page 224; Bates v. Simpson, supra; Titles 48-1-6, 48-1-12, Utah Code Annotated, 1953).

It is conceded by the plaintiff that the awarding of the contract in question by the irrigation company would not have been possible without proper bonding. (R175-176). A partner cannot accept the benefits of a contract entered into by his partner in the performance of the partnership business, and with his approval, without sharing in the obligations and duties imposed upon the partnership by the contract. (Title 48-1-12, Utah Code Annotated, 1953).

The performance of partnership obligations is chargeable to all of the partners. The plaintiff could not terminate the partnership obligation it had to the insurance company until the partnership had been dissolved and its affairs wound up. (Ferrin v. Ferrin, supra, Titles 48-1-27, 48-1-28, and 48-1-30, Utah Code Annotated, 1953).

It is therefore respectfully submitted by the defendant insurance company that its bonds, and the obligations therein, issued in the name of Fred Rey-

nolds, in the performance of the canal project, were in fact a benefit to and an obligation of the partnership. The partnership subsequently entered into performance of the contract with its anticipated profits. The plaintiff, as a partner of Reynolds, accepted all obligations of the partnership agreement which included the obligation of indemnity to the insurance company in the event the partnership project was not completed in a successful manner. (Exhibit 33 D, Title 48-1-6 and 12, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, 27 Am Jur, Indemnity, Section 16, Page 345).

The Court therefore erred in failing to rule as a matter of law that the plaintiff could not secure a bond on the partnership project, it being a partner, and thereafter claim as an independent third party for labor and materials supplied in the performance of its own contract.

POINT II

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO RULE, AS A MATTER OF LAW, THAT PLAINTIFF REMAINED A PARTNER WITH DEFENDANT FRED REYNOLDS FOR THE PURPOSE OF WINDING UP PARTNERSHIP BUSINESS.

The evidence clearly shows that the attempt by plaintiff to terminate the partnership with Reynolds was ineffectual as to the insurance company in the per-

formance of the contract in question. Plaintiff's vice-president testified that the company was fully aware of the fact that there was a bond on the project and that the terms of the contract must be complied with. In spite of this knowledge plaintiff attempted to walk off the job when it appeared that the probability of profit was rapidly diminishing. Reynolds did not consent to the plaintiff's request for termination of the partnership. (R162, 364-366). Plaintiff admits that Reynolds protested the plaintiff's leaving the job and that he admonished the plaintiff that the job was bonded and must be completed. (R162, 364-366).

A partnership is not terminated on dissolution, but continues until the winding up of partnership affairs is completed. (Title 48-1-27, U.C.A. 1953; Ferrin v. Ferrin, supra). The plaintiff could not, by walking off the project, escape responsibility to the insurance company, defendant Reynolds, and to the irrigation company for the performance of the partnership contract. (Title 48-1-15, U.C.A. 1953).

The evidence clearly shows that plaintiff did not reach a mutual understanding with defendant Reynolds concerning the termination of the partnership (R162, 364-366). Plaintiff told Reynolds that it was quitting the project but it would leave its men and equipment on the project as needed by Reynolds to complete the contract. Plaintiff remained a partner until completion of the contract, and the trial court should have so ruled. (Ferrin v. Ferrin, supra).

POINT III

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO RULE, AS A MATTER OF LAW, THAT PLAINTIFF WAS LIABLE TO THE INSURANCE COMPANY BY INDEMNITY UNTIL THE COMPLETION OF PARTNERSHIP BUSINESS.

The plaintiff not only ratified the acts of defendant Reynolds in obtaining the bond on the project for the benefit of the partnership, but induced him to do so because of the inability of plaintiff to obtain the necessary bonds in its own behalf. (R174-176, 178-180, 342-343). Plaintiff could not escape its obligation to indemnify the bonding company for any loss suffered on the project by attempting to terminate its partnership with Reynolds. (Title 48-1-15, 30, 31, 33 U.C.A. 1953). No notice was ever given to the insurance company that plaintiff was abandoning the project. (R198, 203-204). To permit plaintiff to withdraw from the partnership and avoid the consequences of the bond and the indemnity flowing therefrom would be a gross fraud upon both Reynolds and the insurance company. (23 Am Jur, Fraud & Deceit, Sections 79 and 93). The plaintiff actively concealed from the bonding company that it was a partner on the project when the bonds were obtained, knowing full well that it had no bonding capacity, or standing, with the insurance company and that the bond application would have been rejected had the insurance company known of

the plaintiff's position as a partner. (R343). The plaintiff purposely requested that Reynolds obtain the bonds by withholding the fact that plaintiff was partner. (R178-179). This constitutes a clear fraud on the bonding company. (23 Am Jur, Fraud & Deceit, Sections 79, 93 and 94). The plaintiff should be required to indemnify the bonding company for any loss suffered and should not be permitted to claim payment under its own bond.

POINT IV

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO SUBMIT TO THE JURY ANY OF DEFENDANTS' REQUESTED INSTRUCTIONS, ON THEIR THEORY OF THE CASE.

At the conclusion of the evidence the defendants submitted their requested jury instructions to the Court. (R75-91). The Court rejected each and every request thereby effectively keeping from the jury the defendants' theory of the case. Exception to the Court's failure to instruct was taken by the defendants. (R420-421). The instructions given by the Court to the jury failed to inform the jury of the rights and duties of partners to each other in the performance of partnership obligations. The Court also failed to instruct the jury as to the rights and duties of the partners in regard to the insurance company. There was also a failure by the Court to instruct the jury on the obli-

gations of the partners in winding up the partnership business. (R58-68).

POINT V

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO SUBMIT TO THE JURY THE ISSUE OF DAMAGES.

The Court failed to submit the issue of damages to the jury over the objection of defendants. (R58-68, R421). The plaintiff's claim for damages should have been decided by the jury. (Holland v. Wilson, 8 Ut2d 11, 327 P2d 250). The Court erred in its failure to instruct the jury on damages and left this issue totally unresolved by the jury. In fact, the Trial Court substituted its own opinion for that of the jury as to the damages.

Plaintiff claimed that Reynolds was negligent in performing the contract and that it was entitled to damages because of such negligence. The jury found that plaintiff and Reynolds were jointly negligent in the commencement of the project, but that after the plaintiff abandoned the project, Reynolds continued on with the work without negligence and performed the remaining work in a workmanlike manner. This finding by the jury would eliminate any further claims by plaintiff for damages flowing therefrom, as a result of any alleged negligence by Reynolds. (R54 57).

POINT VI

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO FIND THE JURY'S ANSWERS TO INTERROGATORIES TWO AND THREE OF THE SPECIAL VERDICT TO BE INCONSISTENT.

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