1965

Eastern Utah Development Company v. General Insurance Company of America, A Corporation, and Fred Reynolds : Respondent's Brief

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

Associated closely with the bonding company's claim that it should be dismissed as a matter of law, is its claim that plaintiff is bound to indemnify it as argued under its Point III. The legal obligation of indemnity is merely assumed by the defendant bonding company. They cite no authoritative cases nor does it present any arguments as to why legally this obligation should exist.

The fact of the matter is that the indemnity agreement (Ex. 33d) that the bonding company relies on is dated 11 July 1960 and signed by Fred M. Reynolds and Charlotte J. Reynolds. It is dated long before the contract for the Koosharem Canal Company was let and long before any negotiations between plaintiff and defendant Reynolds concerning the construction of the canal. The bonding com-

pany had no knowledge of any interest of plaintiff in the contract with Koosharem Canal Company; its placed no reliance on its credit; and would not under any circumstances issue it a bond. There is no legal reason why a partner cannot deal with a partnership as any third person providing it is understood that the item of business is not treated by the partners as partnership business which is this case.

Curiously on the one hand, the bonding company says that Eastern Utah Development Company is a principal on the bond and thus estopped from claiming under the bond. It welcomes the plaintiff as a principal for this purpose. On the other hand, it says that it would not accept Eastern Utah Development Company as a principal on any bond in any case. The bonding company agent, Mr. Dale Barton, testified.

“A. The bank in Price had called us to see if we would license them to handle bonds for them, and he was mentioned — Mr. Hill mentioned Eastern Utah Development Company.

“We then, of course, obtained credit information, and it was very poor. We were not interested in handling the account.”

The stance assumed by the bonding company is to say the very least awkward.

The contention of the bonding company regarding indemnity finds no support in the law. In the

case of *Southern Surety Company vs. Plott*, 28 F. 2d 698 (CCA 4th 1928), one of the partners in a road construction company obtained a contract with the State in its own name and also a bond from the plaintiff in its own name. There was no evidence that the plaintiff surety company knew of the partnership. After the surety company incurred a loss on the project, it brought action against each of the partners for reimbursement. A demurrer to the Complaint in the lower court was affirmed on appeal. The appellant court held that a surety can obtain indemnity or reimbursement only from that person who is a principal on the bond and a party to the indemnity agreement. The Court quoted with approval Pingrey on Suretyship, Section 179:

“The surety can look for reimbursement only to the rights of his principal, and not to a stranger. Where a surety is on the bond of one of several partners, he cannot look to the partnership for indemnity, if he has to pay the debt, though the bond was given to secure a partnership debt. A surety cannot charge any other person as his principal except the one who is principal at the time of making the contract of suretyship. No privity can exist between the parties except that which arises on the bond or contract, and an implied assumpsit cannot arise beyond the partners on the bond or in the contract.”

In accord with the principle announced in the above case, are *Spokane Union Stockyards Company vs. Maryland Casualty Company*, 178 P. 3 (Wash.);

and *School District No. 6 of Wallowa County vs. Smith*, 127 P. 7, 97 (Ore.).

For an analogous Utah case, see the recent case of *New Hampshire Insurance Company vs. Ballard Wade, Inc., et al.*, Utah 2d, 404 P. 2d 675. In that case the plaintiff fire insurance company paid a fire loss to the lessor of property and sought to recover from the lessee on the lessee's agreement with the lessor to indemnify for loss. The Court stated in part:

“That when the assignee here has accepted a consideration to cover a risk, it hardly lies in its mouth to claim indemnity from one who has made a written guaranty against loss, to which agreement the insurance company was neither a party nor expressly or impliedly a beneficiary,”

POINT II.

THE ISSUE OF WHETHER PLAINTIFF REMAINED A PARTNER WITH DEFENDANT, FRED REYNOLDS, WAS NOT BEFORE THE LOWER COURT.

The issue before the lower court was whether plaintiff and defendant Reynolds had terminated or modified their agreement to the extent that plaintiff would give up its claim to partnership profits in exchange for payment by defendant Reynolds of its rental account. The jury on special interrogatories specifically found that the agreement was modified to this extent and that the parties did agree that plaintiff would give up its claim to partnership

profits in exchange for payment by Reynolds of its rental account.

In Point II of appellants' Brief, it is urged that the Court erred in failing to rule as a matter of law that plaintiff remained a partner for the purpose of winding up partnership business. This point cannot be related to any finding of the jury (R. 54-57) or to any action of the trial judge. (Reproduced herein as Appendix "A" is the Memorandum Decision of the lower court which concisely sets forth the claims of the parties, the issues, and the results.) Appellants cite no portion of the Record where this point is raised. Whether or not plaintiff is a partner seems to be a moot point because the jury found that the agreement was not terminated, but modified.

Appellants do however make statements in Point II of their Brief concerning certain evidence in the case which must be challenged.

On Page 16 of appellants' Brief, they state that plaintiff admits that Reynolds protested the plaintiff's leaving the job and cite Pages 162, 364-366 in support thereof. Page 162 of the Brief contains the testimony of Mr. Fausett and this testimony is to the effect that defendant agreed to the new arrangements wherein he would run the job and pay the plaintiff its equipment rental. Pages 364-366 of the Record contain the testimony of defendant Reynolds which differs from the testimony of

Mr. Fausett only in that Mr. Reynolds states that he did not agree to the new arrangement.

Again on Page 16 of appellants' Brief, they state:

"The evidence clearly shows that the plaintiff did not reach a mutual understanding with defendant Reynolds concerning the termination of the partnership."

The same pages of the Record, namely Pages 162, 364-366, are cited. The evidence is not as clear as appellants would have this Court believe. In fact, the testimony of these two men frame the disputed issue as to what understanding was reached and the jury decided that question in favor of the plaintiff.

POINT III.

THE COURT DID NOT ERROR IN FAILING TO GIVE ANY OF DEFENDANTS' REQUESTED INSTRUCTIONS ON THEIR THEORY OF THE CASE.

The lower court submitted this case to the jury on special interrogatories pursuant to Rule 49 (a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Submission to the jury in this manner is discretionary with the Court. *Hanks vs. Christensen*, 11 Utah 2d 8, 354 P. 2d 564; *Utah Home Fire Insurance Company*, 15 U. 2d 257, 391 P. 2d 290. It should be added that where, as in a case like this, the evidence is lengthy and the issues complex, it is desirable that the jury be asked to answer specific questions rather than reach a general verdict after a lengthy complicated

set of instructions. In Moore's Federal Practice, Second Edition, Section 49.03 (3), it is stated:

"Use of the special verdict eliminates the necessity for and use of complicated instructions on the law, which are a normal concomitant of the general verdict When the special verdict is used, the Court should give to the jury only such explanation and instructions as it deems necessary to enable the jury to make intelligent findings upon the issues of facts submitted."

Appellants in this action say the Court committed reversible error in failing to give any of their requested instructions, respecting their theory of the case. We are not told in their Brief what particular theory of law they are referring to nor have they shown in what manner they have been prejudiced thereby. They do state that the Court failed to inform the jury of the rights and duties of partners to each other in the performance of partnership obligations and failed to instruct the jury as to the rights and duties of the partners in regard to the bonding company and a failure to instruct on the obligations of partners in winding up partnership business. In reply, respondent asserts that each of the matters set forth by appellants are matters of law for the determination of the Court and not matters of fact with which a jury need be concerned. Further, the issues in this case are whether or not defendant Reynolds agreed to pay the plaintiff for its equipment rental and whether he was

negligent in the prosecution of the construction project. The matters raised by appellants in their Brief and their requested instructions are concerned with law that is outside the scope of those issues.

Aside from the considerations above there is even a more fundamental answer to appellants' contention of error in failing to give their requested instructions. In 53 Am. Jur. Trials, Section 638, it is stated:

“Where a special verdict is required, it is improper to instruct the jury generally concerning the law of the case, for the reason that inasmuch as the jury are not to apply the law to the facts, instructions as to the law can serve no useful purpose.”

It would have been reversible error had the Court given a general charge on the rights and duties of the parties and the effect their answers to special interrogatories would have had on those rights and duties, 90 A.L.R. 2d 1040. Analysis of the requested instructions of the appellants will show that this is exactly what they sought by their requested instructions. In other words, the requested instructions state principles of law which would have informed the jury as to the effect of their answers to special interrogatories or upon the ultimate rights or liabilities of the parties and the final judgment in the litigation, which is improper.

The special verdict given by the lower court and the general instructions as to the burden of

proof accurately and adequately framed the issue for the jury. There is no error.

POINT IV.

THE COURT DID NOT COMMIT ERROR IN FAILING TO SUBMIT TO THE JURY THE ISSUE OF DAMAGES.

Plaintiff in this action claims from the defendant the sum of \$29,720.32. This amount is made up of the following accounts:

R. 383	Parsons Cutter	\$ 600.00
Ex. 7	Miscellaneous Accounts	311.14
Ex. 8	Labor Account	1,177.03
Ex. 9	Equipment Rental	19,886.79
Ex. 10	Gravel Haul	6,889.25
Ex. 11	Cement Account	856.11
TOTAL		<hr/> \$29,720.32

Plaintiff claimed this amount on two theories. Namely, that the defendant, Fred Reynolds, had agreed to pay the accounts and had breached his agreement and that defendant Reynolds was negligent in the management and operation of the construction project and caused damage to plaintiff in the amount of the above accounts. In each theory plaintiff claims the same amount.

In their Fifth Point of Argument, defendants contend that the jury found both plaintiff and defendant Reynolds guilty of negligence in the commencement of the project, but that after plaintiff abandoned the project, Reynolds was free of negli-

gence. Hence, plaintiff can claim no damages and the Court committed error in awarding damage.

Defendants overlook the fact that the jury did find that Reynolds had breached his agreement and, therefore, plaintiff was entitled to a judgment in the amount of its account. No error was committed by the lower court in finding plaintiff was entitled thereto as a matter of law. There can be no question concerning the accuracy and completeness of plaintiff's accounts. In each instance an original invoice was made on or near the time of the event in question. At the end of each month a copy of the invoice and a copy of the ledger account was mailed to defendant Reynolds (R. 164). On numerous occasions during and after the completion of the project, Mr. Fausett asked Mr. Reynolds for money on the accounts and periodically from the start of the job until after its completion unspecified payments in lump sums were made. The last payment was February 13, 1963.

The only account questioned in this law suit is the equipment rental account, Ex. 9. Mr. Reynolds had already agreed to pay other accounts (R. 168).

At trial defendants offered no evidence in explanation or denial of the items set forth on plaintiff's Exhibit 9. Instead defendant Reynolds introduced an Exhibit 31 (d) prepared by himself and his son (Ex. 31d) for the purpose of trial which merely reflected defendant Reynold's memory con-

cerning the time the equipment of the plaintiff was on the job. He testified:

“Q. Now, you claim this was made up from your own records?”

“A. Yes Sir.

“Q. Where are they?”

“A. In my head I guess.”

Comparison on the Exhibits shows that the defendant Reynolds admits the sum of \$14,889.00 owed on the equipment rental account as compared to \$19,886.79 as shown by plaintiff's Exhibit 9. Further comparison will show that defendant has simply rounded off the length of time the equipment was on the job and omitted other periods of time that were recorded by plaintiff at or near the time of the event. Obviously these periods of time were forgotten by defendant during the period between the completion of the project and this law suit.

If the question had been submitted to the jury, they could return only one amount for the other if they found for the plaintiff. Necessarily one account or the other had to be rejected. To accept defendant's memory, the jury would have to ignore the actual records of plaintiff made at the time or near the occurrence of the event. They would have to further ignore the fact that defendant had received monthly statements of the account and had made general unspecified payments to plaintiff after the account was rendered. Such a verdict would

have been speculative and against the manifest weight of the evidence. These paramount factors made this issue a matter of law for the Court and was correctly withheld from the jury.

POINT V.

THE JURY'S ANSWERS TO SPECIAL INTERROGATORIES WERE NOT INCONSISTENT.

Appellants in Point VI. of their Brief argue that the jury's answers to Interrogatories #2 and #3 are inconsistent and, therefore, should be totally disregarded. These two Interrogatories and the answers given by the jury are as follows:

- "2. In the said talk between Mr. Fausett and Mr. Reynolds, did they agree that their original agreement would be modified in future conduct of the job, in that the Eastern Utah Development Company equipment would remain on the job until completion of it, but that instead of sharing in the profits, Eastern Utah Development Company would receive from Mr. Reynolds rental payments for said equipment during its use?

Answer Yes

Everett A. Bird

Foreman

- "3. In the meeting between Mr. Fausett and Mr. Reynolds, did they agree that their original arrangement would be completely terminated as of that time; that Mr. Reynolds would take the job over him-

self, but that Mr. Reynolds would be permitted to continue to use the equipment of Eastern Utah Development Company on a rental-payment basis,

Answer No

Everett A. Bird

Foreman”

The import of the two questions is (1) Whether the parties agreed to modify their original agreement, or (2) Whether they agreed to terminate their original agreement. There is substantial evidence in the Record to support an affirmative answer to each of the questions. Only if the jury had answered “yes” to each question would there have been a contradiction.

The testimony of Mr. Fausett shows that at the June meeting of the two parties it was then agreed that plaintiff would leave its equipment on the job until its completion, but that instead of sharing profits, Mr. Reynolds would make rental payments to Eastern Utah Development Company. This evidence is entirely consistent with the jury's affirmative answer to Question #2.

Appellants made no specific objection to the form of Questions No. 2 and 3 nor did they contend that they were confusing or that answers thereto could be contradictory. In the case of *Baker vs. Cook*, 6 Utah 2d 161, 308 P. 2d 264, this Court held that under a similar Record, these matters

could not be raised for the first time on appeal. See also the case of *Milligan vs. Capital Furniture Company*, 8 Utah 2d 383, 335 P. 2d 619 for a discussion of the matter of inconsistency in answers on a special verdict.

POINT VI.

PLAINTIFF'S RIGHTS ARE NOT LIMITED TO THAT OF AN ACCOUNTING FROM DEFENDANT, FRED REYNOLDS:

At the time of the trial of this action, the irrigation company had paid to defendant Reynolds approximately \$100,000.00 and there was still due and owing to him the sum of approximately \$39,000.00. (R. 321).

Defendant Reynolds alone signed the contract with the irrigation company. He alone has the power to deal with them and if necessary, to obtain the money still due and owing by legal process.

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